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NO.
THE STATE OF TEXAS, IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF
Plaintiff

VS.

HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS
Marque Learning Center Partnership;
Guerra Management Group, Inc. fka
Marque Learning Center;
Guerra Products Company, Inc.; JUDICIAL DISTRICT

Marque Learning Center
(a corporation)
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Guerra International (a corporation)
Bianca Estella Guajardo.

Relief Defendants

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL VERIFIED PETITION AND
APPLICATION FOR EX PARTE TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER,
TEMPORARY INJUNCTION AND PERMANENT INJUNCTION

———=2 D PANLNT INJUNCTION

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT:

Plaintiff, the STATE OF TEXAS, acting by and through Attorney General of Texas Greg
Abbott, files this Plaintiff’s Petition and Application for Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order,
Temporary Injunction, and Permanent Injunction and complains of the named Defendants, and

for cause of action would respectfully show:

L DISCOVERY



Discovery in this case is intended to be conducted under Level 2 pursuant to TEX. R.
CIV.P.190.3. This case is not subject to the restrictions of expedited discovery under TRCP
169 because:

a. The relief sought by the State includes non-monetary injunctive relief; and
b. The State's claims for monetary relief including penalties, consumer redress and
attorneys’ fees and costs are in excess of $100,000 and could exceed
$1,000,000.00.
1L JURISDICTION

This enforcement action is brought by Attorney General Greg Abbott, through his
Consumer Protection Division, in the name of thé STATE OF TEXAS and in the public interest
pursuant to the authority granted by §17.47 of the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices-Consumer
Protection Act, TEX. Bus. & CoM. COoDE §17.41 et seq. (“DTPA”), upon the ground that
Defendants have engaged in false, deceptive and misleading acts and practices in the course of
trade and commerce as defined in, and declared unlawful by, §§17.46(a) and (b) of the DTPA. In
enforcement suits filed pursuant to Section 17.47 of the DTPA, the Attorney General is further
authorized to seek civil penalties, redress for consumers and injunctive relief,

IIl. DEFENDANTS
Individual Defendants.’

1. Defendant Henry Guerra Jr. (“Henry Guerra, Jr.”) is an individual who
resides in Harris County, Texas. He is named as a defendant in his individual capacity and in his
capacity as a partner in the named partnership defendant and in his capacity as successor in

interst to Marque High School, LLC as sole member of that limited liability company. He may

" All Individual Defendants are involved in management and administration of Marque Learning Center’s
operations. (Acosta AfT, §17-22).



be served with citation at 11811 East Freeway, Suite 130, Houston, Texas 77029 or wherever he
may be found.

2. Defendant Henry Guerra Sr. (“Henry Guerra”) is an individual who resides in
Harris County, Texas. He is named as a defendant in his individual capacity and in his capacity
as a partner in the named partnership defendant. He may be served with citation at 11811 East
Freeway, Suite 130, Houston, Texas 77029 or wherever he may be found.

3. Defendant Michael Guerra (“Michael Guerra®) is an individual who resides in
Harris County, Texas. He is named as a defendant in his individual capacity and in his capacity
as a partner in the named partnership defendant. He may be served with citation at 11811 East
Freeway, Suite 130, Houston, Texas 77029 or wherever he may be found.

4. Defendant Rebecca Gomez Guerra a/k/a Becky O a/k/a Rebecca Olivo
(“Rebecca Guerra”) is an individual who resides in Harris County, Texas. She is named as a
defendant in her individual capacity and in her capacity as a partner in the named partnership
defendant. She may be served with citation at 11811 East Freeway, Suite 130, Houston, Texas
77029 or wherever she may be found.

Bl Defendant Esther Gomez Tristan a/k/a Estee G. Tristan (“Esther Tristan”) is
an individual who resides in Harris County, Texas. She is named as a defendant in her individual
capacity and in her capacity as a partner in the named partnership defendant. She may be served
with citation at 11811 East Freeway, Suite 130, Houston, Texas 77029 or wherever he may be
found.

6. Defendant Alfonso Mendoza (“Alfonso Mendoza”) is an individual who resides

in Harris County, Texas. He is named as a defendant in his individual capacity and in his



capacity as a partner in the named partnership defendant. He may be served with citation at
11811 East Freeway, Suite 130, Houston, Texas 77029 or wherever he may be found.

7. Defendant Linda Ruth Garza (“Linda Garza”) is an individual who resides in
Harris County, Texas. She is named as a defendant in her individual capacity and in her capacity
as a partner in the named partnership defendant. She may be served with citation at 11811 East
Freeway, Suite 130, Houston, Texas 77029 or wherever he may be found.

8. Defendant Lauro Garza a/k/a Larry Garza (“Lauro Garza”) is an individual
who resides in Harris County, Texas. He is named as a defendant in his individual capacity and
in his capacity as a partner in the named partnership defendant. He may be served with citation at
11811 East Freeway, Suite 130, Houston, Texas 77029 or wherever he may be found.

9, Hereinafter, “Individual Defendants” means all defendants named in this lawsuit
in their individual capacity.

10. Hereinafter, “Partners” or “Marque Partners” means all defendants named in
this lawsuit in their individual capacity as partners in the named partnership defendant, as well as
all entities acting in concert with the named partnership defendant.

Partnership Defendant.

11.  Defendant Marque Learning Center Partnership, aka Marqe Learning
Center (“Marque Partnership” or “Marque Learning Center” or “Marque”) is an
unregistered partnership having its principal place of business in Harris County, Texas, at 11811
East Freeway Suite 130, Houston, TX 77029. The partnership’s partners, the Marque Partners,
will be served with citation because they are also individual defendants.

12. Hereinafter, “Partnership Defendant(s)” refers to any and all unregistered

partnerships named as defendants.



Entity Defendants.

13.  Defendant Guerra Management Group, Inc., fka Marque Learning Center
(“Guerra Management”) is a Texas corporation located at 11811 East Freeway Suite 130,
Houston, TX 77029. Guerra Management is also named as a successor in interest to Guerra
Management Group, LLC. It may be served with citation by and through its registered agent,
Henry Guerra, Jr., who is located at 11811 East Freeway Suite 130, Houston, Texas 77029.

14, Defendant Guerra Products Company, Inc., (“Guerra Products”) is a Texas
corporation located at 11811 East Freeway Suite 130, Houston, TX 77029. Guerra Products is
also named as a successor in interest to Guerra Products Company, LLC. It may be served with
citation by and through its registered agent, Henry Guerra, Jr., who is located at 11811 East
Freeway Suite 300, Houston, Texas 77029.

15.  Defendant Marque High School, LLC, (“MHS”) is a Texas limited liability
company located at 11811 East Freeway Suite 300, Houston, TX 77029. It may be served with
citation by and through its registered agent, Henry Guerra, Jr., who is located at 11811 East
Freeway Suite 300, Houston, Texas 77029.

16.  Defendant Marque Learning Center, (“Marque”) is a Texas nonprofit
corporation located at 11811 East Freeway Suite 300, Houston, TX 77029. It may be served with
citation by and through its registered agent, Henry Guerra, Jr., who is located at 11811 East
Freeway Suite 300, Houston, Texas 77029.

17. Hereinafter, “Entity Defendants” means all defendants named in this petition
that are business entities that have registered in the past with the Texas Secretary of State.

18. Hereinafter, “Defendants” means all Individual Defendants, all Partners, all

Partnership Defendants, and all Entity Defendants.



Relief Defendants.

19. The following entities are named as relief defendants based on information and
belief they hold or may potentially hold in the future ill-gotten gains derived from the illegal
activities of Defendants that are the subject matter of this lawsuit and, therefore, are subject to
any court orders, injunctions, or equitable disgorgement orders from the Court?:

a. Defendant Guerra International (a corporation) (“Guerra International™) is a
Texas non-profit corporation located at 11811 East Freeway Suite 300, Houston, TX 77029. It
may be served with citation by and through its registered agent, Henry Guerra, Jr., who is located
at 11811 East Freeway Suite 300, Houston, Texas 77029.

b. Defendant Bianca Estella Guajardo (“Bianca Guajardo®) is an individual who
resides in Harris County, Texas. She is named in her capacity as a relief defendant. She may be
served with citation at 11811 East Freeway, Suite 130, Houston, Texas 77029 or wherever she
may be found.

Hereinafter, “Relief Defendants” means Defendants who possess 1) ill-gotten gains
derived from the unlawful acts or practices of one or more of the other Defendants named in
this petition and/or 2) benefits that would be subject to the equitable remedy of disgorgement.

Relief Defendant Classification.

20.  All Defendants are named in their capacity as Relief Defendants to the extent that
they possess 1) ill-gotten gains derived from the unlawful acts or practices of one or more of the
other Defendants named in this petition and/or 2) benefits that would be subject to the equitable
remedy of disgorgement (the forced relinquishment of all benefits that would be unjust to retain,

including all ill-gotten gains and benefits or profits resulting from an actor or actors putting




fraudulently and illegally obtained property to a profitable use). Plaintiff reserves the right to
name additional Relief Defendants to the extent that additional individuals or entities appear to
possess ill-gotten gains and/or benefits subject to disgorgement.
IV. VENUE
Venue of this suit lies in Harris County, Texas for the following reasons:

a. Under the DTPA §17.47(b), venue is proper because Defendants reside in
Harris County, Texas.

b. Under the DTPA §17.47(b), venue is proper because Defendants have
done business in Harris County, Texas, including operating businesses engaged in deceptive and
misleading practices.

c. Under the DTPA §17.47(b), venue is proper because Defendants’
principal places of business are in Harris County, Texas.

d. Under the DTPA §17.47(b), venue is proper because transactions forming
the basis of this suit occurred in Harris County, Texas.

V. PUBLIC INTEREST

21. Plaintiff, the State of Texas, has reason to believe that Defendants have engaged
in, and will continue to engage in the unlawful practices set forth below. Plaintiff, the State of
Texas, has reason to believe Defendants have caused and will cause immediate, irreparable
injury, loss and damage to the State of Texas, and will also cause adverse effects to legitimate
business enterprises which lawfully conduct trade and commerce in this State. Plaintiff also has
reason to believe that future harm is imminent and that Defendants will continue to cause such
adverse effects. Therefore, the Consumer Protection Division of the Office of the Attorney

General of the State of Texas believes and is of the opinion that these proceedings are in the



public interest. DTPA §17.47(a). Defendants have been advised of the State’s investigation;
however, no prior notice of this suit is required under DTPA §17.47(b). (See Plaintiff’s Brief in
Support of Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order and Asset Freeze field contemporaneously
with this Petition.)
VL. TRADE AND COMMERCE
20~ Defendants have, at all times described below, engaged in conduct constituting
“trade” and “commerce,” as those terms are defined in §17.45(6) of the DTPA.
VII. ACTS OF AGENTS
23, Whenever in this petition it is alleged that a Defendant or Defendants did any act,
it is meant that: .
a. The specified Defendant or Defendants performed or participated in the act, or
b. The specified Defendant’s or Defendants’ officers, successors in interest, agents,
partners, trustees or employees performed or participated in the act on behalf of and under the
authority of one or more of the Defendants.
VIII. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
Marque Learning Center Is A Diploma Mill,
| 30.  Defendants operate a high school diploma mill, headquartered in Houston, Texas,
known as Marque Learning Center. (Tab A, Acosta Aff., Ex. 1a; Tab B, Roohi Aff, 94) Marque
is family-owned and operated by Defendants. Marque has operated at multiple locations and

currently is operated out of a small, approximately 800-square foot, office space at 11811 East



Freeway, Suite 130, Houston, Texas 77029, and from  websites at
www.marqueleamingcenter.com and marqueco.com.” (Acosta Aff, 993, 7; Roohi Aff. 14)

31.  Since 2003, Marque has offered consumers an “adult high school diploma
program” and boasts that it has over 100,000 graduates of its program. (Acosta Aff., Ex. 2, pp.
2, 86) Prices range between $99 and $1000 or more.*  (Acosta Aff, Ex. 2, p- 9) See also
Marque advertising at www.youtube.com; www.youtube.com/watch?v=vbAf-phGgH8. The
“adult high school program” is offered to consumers 18 years or older for $250 (with some
variatio.ns in pricing and minimum age requirements). (Acosta Aff,, Ex. 2, pp. 2, 6) To receive a
Marque diploma, consumers need only pay the fee and may start taking the at-home test
immediately. (Acosta Aff.,, Ex. 1b; Ex. 2, p. 6) The April 2014 version of the test is entitled
“Course Work Book/Study” but it is actually an 80-page “test” that the “student” may complete
at home within a matter of hours. (Acosta Aff., Ex. 2 p. 1) The five test areas are vaguely titled
English, Writing, Math, Social Studies, History, Science, and “Bible — good citizenship.”
(Acosta Aff., Ex. 1b; Ex. 2, pp. 11, 38, 66) The test book questions are far below high school

level in content, and some are simply nonsensical.’ (Acosta Aff,, Ex. 2) For the most part, the

3 Marque has operated from the following locations:11811 East Freeway Suite 300, Houston, TX 77029;

213 West Southmore Suite 403, Pasadena, TX 77502; and 84 NE Interstate 410 Loop, San Antonio, TX

78216. Marque’s website also lists its Houston-area representatives: “Aldine Area Contact Armando 713-

471-7206,” “Northwest Area Contact Victoria 713-471-5078,” and “Southwest Area Contact Jumana

713-471-5802".

4 The Defendants advertise primarily through various web sites, youtube.com, and facebook.com.

* For example, in a discussion of the Holocaust, Marque’s test book makes the following statements:
“Adolf Hitler is probably one of the worst people ever to live.”

“These camps weren’t nice places to be.”

“How does America get involved in this? They started to ban Jews in America.”



answers are provided on the same page or in the same section of the test book, so that the
“student” only has to fill in the blanks without consulting any other sources. (Acosta Aff., Ex. 2,
pp. 67-69)

32.  Upon completion of the test, and a passing “grade” of 70, within one to three
weeks, the consumer receives a Marque “high school diploma”. (Acosta Aff., Ex. 1b; Ex. 2, p.
6; Ex. 4 and Ex. 5) The student also receives a M.arque transcript covering four years, a grade
point average, and the right to attend a Marque high school graduation ceremony. (Acosta Aff.,
Ex. 3; Ex. Ic, pp. 1-3) Consumers may take the test (or portions of the test) as many times as
needed without additional costs until they pass. (Acosta Aff., Ex. 2, p. 5)

33.  Students are not required to complete any coursework, attend any classes, or read
any materials before taking the test. (Acosta Aff., Ex. 1b; Ex. 2, p.6) Although Marque pledges
to provide a “quality” education and “qualified” teachers and tutors (Acosta Aff., Ex. If, p. 2;
Ex. 1h), none of the Marque employees has a teaching certificate from the Texas Education
Agency or other known certification. (Tab D, Texas Education Agency Affidavit.) The Marque
“transcript” falsely reports that the student has completed course credits when in fact no
coursework has been completed, just the open book test. (Acosta Aff., Ex. 3)

34. As Marque offers a high school diploma for a fee with little or no coursework, it

is qualifies as a “diploma mill” as defined under Texas law. 37 Tex. Admin. Code

“I hope this gives you a little more of a prospective [sic] on the holocaust.”

(Acosta Aff., Ex. 2, p. 19) In a spelling exercise, Marque’s test book asks students to identify the
improperly-capitalized word in the following sentence: “Moses, Richard, and Sammy are brothers who
like Playing baseball.” The math section asks students to determine if the number 24 is less than, greater
than, or equal to the number 35; to divide 1000 by 10; and “[h]Jow many feet are in 48 inches?” (Acosta
Aff., Ex. 2, pp. 19, 30, 56, 64)



§211.1(a)(19) (A “diploma mill” is “an entity that offers [a diploma] for a fee with little or no
coursework.”).
Marque Falsely Represents Itself As A Legitimate “Texas Home School Organization.”

35.  Because the Marque diploma is not based upon any actual coursework or
instruction, it is educationally worthless. In order to dupe consumers into buying its diplomas,
Marque describes itself as a “home school” and “home school organization” and then pretends
because of its legal status as a “home school” in Texas its graduates are “guaranteed” acceptance
into any community college or university in Texas. Specifically, Marque’s website and work
book in their current versions and recent iterations make the following claims:

° Marque is “a Home School Organization” (Acosta Aff., Ex. 1f; Ex. 1h; Ex. 2, p.
6)

* Because Marque is a home school, “by Texas law you will be able to attend any
College or University located in Texas;” (Acosta Aff., Ex. le, p. 1; Ex. If, D2
Ex. 1g)

* Marque is “State Law Compliant;” (Acosta Aff,, Ex. 1h; Ex. le, p. I; Ex. If, p. 2;
Ex. 1g)

* Once the student has been awarded a Marque high school diploma, the student
“will then be able to attend any Texas Community College or University;”
(Acosta Aff,, Ex. 1f, p. 2)

e “All traditional community colleges and universities will accept your [Marque]
Home School Diploma;” (Acosta Aff., Ex. 1b, p. 2)

* “100% of all traditional colleges will accept your Diploma (sic) for enrollment.”
(Acosta Aff.,, Ex. 2, p. 6)

» Graduates are “guarantee[d] acceptance into a traditional college or university.”
(Ex. 1f, p. 3)

(Acosta Aff. §3) The 2014 Marque test book also states:



Please note that Home Schooling is perfectly legal in the state of Texas, 100% of

all traditional colleges will accept your Diploma for enrollment, 98% of all

employers and technical schools will accept your diploma. 2% will require you

graduate from a traditional High School. Also, special licensing such as day care

licensing, realtor, plumber, electrician etc. may be obtained by the State with your

diploma. (sic)
(Acosta Aff,, Ex. 2, p. 6) On its website, Marque repeats its claims that 100% of colleges and
universities will accept its diplomas and 98% of “all technical, trade or medical schools” will
accept Marque diplomas. (Acosta Aff,, Ex. 1d, p. 2) Marque also claims that the “2%” of
employers and trade schools that do not accept the Marque diploma are rejecting it, not because
of any deficiency in the Marque program, but because they do not accept home schooling
generally. (Acosta Aff., Ex. 1d, p. 2)

35. Marque’s claims are grossly misleading. First, Marque is not a “home school” as

defined by Texas law. A legitimate home school in Texas involves the following components:

* A school age child residing in the State of Texas who is pursuing under the
direction of a parent or parents or one standing in parental authority in or
through the child’s home,

e In abona fide (good faith, not a sham or subterfuge manner) school,

° A curriculum consisting of books, workbooks, other written materials,
including that which appears on an electronic screen of either a computer or
video tape monitor, or any combination of the preceding from either a (i) a
private or parochial school which exists apart from the child’s home or (ii)

which has been developed or obtained from any source,

* Said curriculum is designed to meet basic education goals of reading, spelling,
grammar, mathematics, and a study of good citizenship.

Tex. Educ. Agency v. Leeper, 893 S.W.2d 432, 439 (Tex.1994). Marque is not a “home school”
under Texas law in any sense since i) it targets adults not school age children, ii) Marque

students are not required to complete coursework of any kind before taking the at-home test and

12



receiving a diploma; ¢ and iii) there is no involvement of any kind by a parent or one acting in
parental authority (except perhaps to pay the Marque fee). (See pp. 3-15 of Plaintiffs Brief
Regarding Texas Education Law, College Admissions and Federal Financial Aid (“Plaintiff’s
Education Law Brief”), which was filed contemporaneously with this Petition.)

36.  The second part of Marque’s home school deception—that because it is a “home
school” its graduates are “guaranteed” acceptance into college—is simply not true. Home school
students in Texas have no guarantee of acceptance at a four year university any more than any
other private or public school student. Moreover, because Marque provides nothing of
educational value, its “diploma” is simply irrelevant to the college admissions process.” (See PP.
19-24 of Plaintiff’s Education Law Brief.)

37. With respect to community colleges, Marque’s deception is more subtle.
Because community colleges have “open enrollment” policies, students may be admitted without

a high school diploma of any kind. Tex. Educ. Code §130.0011; 19 Tex. Admin. Code §9.53(b).

o Due to pressure from governmental investigations and complaints from local community colleges, Marque

has recently begun to offer multiple work books per grade. The multiple work books are insufficient to satisfy the
curriculum requirement, however. Moreover, even if Marque were providing a curriculum, there is evidencefrom an
undercover investigation that Marque is simply issuing its diplomas to students regardless of whether they achieve a
passing grade. (Acosta Aff. Ex. 13)

7 Generally, freshmen applicants to four-year colleges and universities must have satisfactorily completed a standard
high school curriculum at either a private or public school. See e.g. Tex. Educ. Code §51.805(a)(1) (generally
applicants must have completed the “High School Program” or their equivalents described in 19 Tex. Admin. Code
§§74.63 and 74.64). Or in the alternative, freshmen applicants can qualify for admission by achieving a minimum
score on the SAT or ACT or similar college readiness exam. See e.g. Tex. Educ. Code §51.805(a)(1) (referencing
SAT and ACT minimums specified in §51.803(a)(2)(B)). For example, University of Texas admission requirements
state: “To be considered for admission, freshman applicants to UT Austin must submit a complete application and
must graduate under the Recommended High School Program or the Distinguished Achievement Program (also
known as the Advanced High School Program) . . . . (See http://bealonghorn utexas.edw freshmen/admission/hs-
courses.) Similarly, University of Houston admission requirements state: “[A]ll students meet one of the following
college readiness standards . . . [including] [s]uccessfully complet[ing] the recommended or advanced high school
program . ., .” (See http://www.uh.edu/admissions/apply/app]y-freshman/admissions-criteria/.) Since Marque
provides neither an acceptable diploma nor the coursework that would prepare a student for college level courses or
the college entrance exams, its products add nothing of value to the college admissions process.

13



(See Plaintiff’s Education Brief, pp. 21-24.) (See also Tab E, Affidavit of Dr. James Goeman,
Assistant Director, Academic Quality and Workforce Divison at the Texas Higher Education
Coordinating Board.) If the community college applicant student is not college-ready based on
entrance exams, he or she may be placed in non-college credit remedial classes. In effect, the
community college student is already “guaranteed” acceptance because of open enrollment
policies, not because of a Marque diploma. A Marque diploma is simply an unnecessary sltep
and expense for the student who wishes to attend community college. /d.

38.  Marque compounds its home school deception by encouraging students to claim
“home school” status on their federal student financial aid forms. When completing a federal
student financial aid form, students are required to provide a code number for their high school.
(Acosta Aff. Ex. 9) (See pp. 24-29 of Plaintiff’s Education Brief.) The code number allows the
U.S. Department of Education to determine if the designated high school is a legitimate
educational institution. Students who have been home schooled legitimately may designate their
status as “home school” and receive financial aid. (Acosta Aff. Ex. 9 (see Question No. 26))
Despite the fact that Marque does not remotely qualify as a legitimate home school in Texas,
Marque directs its students to indicate “home school” status on their financial aid forms. (Acosta
Aff,, Ex. Ic, p.2; Ex. le p. 2) Falsifying information on an application may subject the student
to criminal and administrative penalties, including penalties referred to on the federal financial
aid application. (See pp. 24-29 of Plaintiff’s Education Brief.) The college or university is also
at risk of penalties, including having to reimburse financial aid payments that have been received
based upon the student’s falsified application. Id.

Marque Falsely Markets Itself As A Legitimate “GED Alternative Program.”

14



39.  Marque Learning Center also falsely advertises that it is a “GED Alternative

"% However, high school equivalency certificates can only be issued by the Texas

Program,
Education Agency to students who make a passing score of the high school equivalency
examination, Iwhich more commonly known as the GED test. 19 Tex. Admin. Code §§ 89.41,
89.43(a). The high school equivalency examination is only given by the GED Testing Service at
authorized testing centers and is a monitored exam. 19 Tex. Admin. Code § 89.42. High school
equivalency programs to prepare for the high school equivalency exam are authorized by state
and/or federal law and must meet certain statutory and regulatory requirements. 19 Tex. Admin.
Code § 89.1401; 20 U.S.C. § 1070d-2; 40 Tex. Admin. Code §§ 805.1-805.62.

40.  Marque is not authorized to issue high school equivalency certificates, is not an
authorized testing center for high school equivalency examinations, and is not a high school
equivalency program. Marque has no affiliation with the TEA or the GED Testing Service and
has no authorization whatsoever to issue certificates of high school equivalency. Under Texas
law, only the TEA is authorized to issue certificates of high school equivalency. 19 Tex. Admin.
Code § 89.41.

41.  Marque exacerbates this deception by marketing its high school diploma product
as better than the GED. On its website and in its workbook, Marque attempts to steer consumers
away from the GED and buy its product instead with the self-serving admonishment: “Friends
don’t let friends get a GED, earn your High School Diploma instead (sic).” (Acosta Aff, Ex. 1h).

In fact, by preparing for and taking the GED, a student can obtain a GED certificate from the

4 Marque Learning Center Advertisement, The Greensheet-Southeast, Aug.. 7-13, 2014, at 31, available at
http://issuu.com/the_greensheet/docs/houston_southeast (last visited Aug. 8, 2014) (on file). (Acosta Aff, Ex. 7

15



Texas Education Agency, which, unlike the Marque diploma, is generally regarded by many
employers and schools to satisfy the requirement of a high school diploma.
Marque’s “National” Accreditation Is A Sham.

42.  Marque employs multiple tactics to deceive unsuspecting consumers into
believing it to be legitimate. For example, Marque claims it is nationally accredited by the
“National Private Schools Accreditation Group.” See www.youtube.com (Marque Learning
Center). In fact, the supposed “accreditation” is a farce because the accrediting institution is not
an institution at all. National Private Schools Accreditation Group, Inc. (“NPSAG”) does not
exist as an accrediting institution. (Acosta Aff. 16) In fact, there is no physical location of
NPSAG, except a UPS private mailbox in Florida. (Acosta Aff, §16) NPSAG is not recognized
by any of the |legitimate accrediting organizations in  Texas. See
http://www.tepsac.org/agencies.cfm (listing the 15 approved private school accreditors in Texas).
Nor is it recognized in its home state of Florida. See website of Florida Association of
Registrar’s list of legitimate accreditors). (Acosta Aff. §16)

43.  No legitimate accrediting organization would ever accredit Marque. For example,
the Texas Private School Accreditation Commission (“TEPSAC”), will not permit its members
(who are accrediting organizations) to accredit schools unless the “curriculum, staffing, and
instruction” are “sufficiently comparable to those of a public school.”® See TEPSAC Policy Book
at 2. (www.tepsac.org) As Marque has no basis for a legitimate accreditation, it simply
purchased its accreditation from NPSAG in order to attempt to appear legitimate to consumers.

Marque Engages In Other Deceptive Tactics.

? Members of TEPSAC are the recognized accrediting organizations for private schools in Texas,

16



44.  Marque engages in a variety of other deceptive tactics in an effort to appear
legitimate.

45, Marque;s website states that it is “registered” with the State of Texas in Austin,
falsely implying that its products and services are somehow endorsed or approved by the State of
Texas. (Acosta Aff., Ex. 1h)

46.  Marque also falsely claims it is “State Law Compliant” when in fact Texas law
prohibits the deceptions in which Defendants engage, and also prohibits issuance of an alleged
high school equivalency certificate except by the Texas Education Agency. 19 Tex. Admin.
Code §§ 89.41, 89.43(a).

47. Marque’s website displays a copy of the Certificate of Incorporation of an
affiliate, Marque Learning Center (the “Marque Non-Profit”), a non-profit Texas corporation.
The Marque Non-Profit, however, transacts no business and has no apparent purpose other than
filing paperwork with the Secretary of State for maintaining non-profit status. The goal of this
subterfuge is t§ dupe consumers into believing Marque is a nonprofit, when in fact it is a for-
profit unregistered partnership operated by the Individual Defendants. All of Marque’s main
bank accounts are held in the name of one or more of the Partners. Even the Entity Defendants
are shelf registrations; they do not even have bank accounts. In fact, the Partners, mostly Guerra
family and friends, operate Marque out of their own bank accounts and transact Marque business
in their personal capacity. Also, Marque has engaged in a pattern and practice of filing false and
deceptive assumed name certificates.

Consumers Complain They Were Misled By Marque.
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48. Consumers complain about being misled by Marque’s claims.'® (Tab C, Better

Business Bureau Affidavit; Acosta Aff. Ex. 8) The following is a sample of consumer

complaints:

d

a. “I was denied a job at the United Health Care because my high school diploma was not

able to be verified. I contacted the bored (sic) of education and they were not able to
verify my school status. Also contacted the Better Business Bureau and they stated that
the business is not accredited. I contacted Marque Several times about this and all they
would say is that there (sic) school is accredited and that im (sic) in there (sic) system as
a 2010 class graduate. I then asked why aren’t (sic) I registered with the state of texas as
public information? They stated that this was a private institution and they had there (sic)
own way of being accredited. I then went to the san Antonio location and the place was
empty...they fled and there (sic) main place of business is in Houston Texas. I found that
odd..Ive (sic) also put in a complaint with WOAI News Reports and was also told that
there previous investigations had lead up to fraudulent behavior.”

. “FALSE ADVERTISEMENT AND FALSE STATEMENTS..JUST A WAIST OF

MONEY

This is a home school program that offers a high school diploma. When I first went (sic)
here they told me its (sic) at your own pace and it is accredited by the state of Texas and I
shouldn’t have any problems with it. So I paid (sic) the $200.00 fee and took the test.
Now I find out that no college will accept it and I have just wasted my money on tis (sic)
program. Colleges have told me this program is not valid and is not accredited threw (sic)
the state of Texas, is there anything I can do to get a refund of fix this problem???”
(Delilah Colunga, Complaint to the BBB.)

“I got my high school diploma from this place, and it was told to my grandmother that it
wad (sic) a credited (sic) charter school, which was supposed to be excepted (sic) by the
us (sic) army. And later we found out that we paid all that money for a diploma that is
NOT a credited (sic) diploma, this was information that was falsely giving to us,” (Angel
Leal, Complaint to the BBB).

Marque Misleads DACA Consumers.

49.  Marque staff have falsely represented that the Marque diploma meets the

education requirements of U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Service (“USCIS”) for

'° The BBB revoked Marque’s BBB accreditation because of the types of complaints it received.
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undocumented immigrants.''  USCIS instituted a program through which undocumented
immigrants, if they meet certain requirements, can avoid prosecution for being in the U.S.
without documentation. This program is called “Deferred Action Childhood Arrival” (“DACA™).
USCIS has standards for acceptable high school diplomas similar to those discussed above.
Marque diplomas are not accepted for DACA purposes since USCIS determined that they are not

valid.

Marque Misleads Students Who Have Been Cited For Truancy.

50. High school education is compulsory in Texas, and students who do not attend
school may face criminal liability for truancy. Marque’s marketing unfairly targets students who
have been cited for truancy and convinces them Marque is legitimate. Later the students discover
that, since Marque provides no coursework or instruction, Marque’s diploma is not accepted by
Texas justice of the peace courts as legitimate. (Acosta Aff. Ex. 13) These students have
wasted their money and may have to incur additional costs for another program to comply with
the truancy laws.

Defendants’ Deceptive Business Practices Are Intentional,

51. Marque Learning Center has been featured in a number of investigative news stories
that highlight its status as a diploma mill. See www.khou.com/news (“Dog gets high school
diploma as so-called ‘degree mills’ flourish under Texas law™);
www.clipsyndicate.com/video/playlist/19644/4221139%title=woai.tull_feed (“High  School

Diploma Mill Claims to Use Home School Law™); (Acosta Aff. Ex. 10, 13). Marque also has

"' Marque staff has done so by providing documents, including personalized affidavits, to Marque students applying
for DACA. In doing so, Marque has represented that Marque’s diploma program is sufficient to fulfill USCIS’s
demonstrated effectiveness requirement, which is a requirement that any purported education received is a legitimate
education.
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been the subject of other news articles. (Acosta Aff. Ex. 11, 12). Despite the media coverage,

Defendants have continued their deceptive business practices. ]

52.

X. VIOLATIONS OF THE DTPA

Defendants, in the course and conduct of trade and commerce, have directly or

indirectly engaged in false, misleading and deceptive acts and practices declared to be unlawful

by the DTPA, §17.46(a) and DTPA, §17.46(b), to wit:

a.

Causing confusion or misunderstanding as to the source, sponsorship, approval, or
certification of goods or services, in violation of DTPA, §17.46(b)(2);

Causing confusion or misunderstanding as to affiliation, connection, or
association with, or certification by, another, in violation of DTPA, §17.46(b)(3);
Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics,
ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities which they do not have, or that a person
has a sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or connection which he does not
have, in violation of DTPA, §17.46(b)(5);

Representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, or grade,
or that goods are of a particular style or model, if they are of another, in violation
of the DTPA, §17.46(b)(7);

Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised, in
violation of the DTPA, §17.46(b)(9);

Making false or misleading statements of fact concerning the reasons for,
existence of, or amount of price reductions, in violation of the DTPA,

§17.46(b)(11);
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g. Representing that a guarantee or warranty confers or involves rights or remedies
which it does not have or involve, §17.46(b)(20);

h. Failing to disclose information concerning goods or services which was known at
the time of the transaction if such failure to disclose such information was
intended to induce the consumer into a transaction which the consumer would not
have entered had the information been disclosed, in violation of the DTPA,
§17.46(b)(24).

XI. YIOLATIONS OF ASSUMED NAME REGISTRATION LAWS
53.  Defendants have, directly or indirectly, engaged in acts that violated TEX. Bus. &
CoM. Cobk Chapter 71, Assumed Business or Professional Name. Such acts include:

a. Not filing a certificate for certain unincorporated persons while regularly
conducting business or rendering a professional service in Texas, in violation of
TEX. Bus. & CoM. CoDE §§ 71.051 and 71.054; and

b. Regularly conducting business or rendering professional services in Texas under
an assumed name without filing an assumed name certificate for an entity in the
office of the county clerk of the county in which the entity’s (1) registered office
is located or (2) principal office is located, in violation of TEX. Bus. & CoM.
CobE §§ 71.101 and 71.103.

XIIL INJURY TO CONSUMERS
54.  Defendants have, by means of these unlawful acts and practices, obtained money
or other property from identifiable persons to whom such money or property should be restored.

XIV. NECESSITY OF IMMEDIATE RELIEF
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55. Pursuant to TEX. Bus. & CoM. CODE §17.47(a), Plaintiff requests immediate relief
by way of a Temporary Restraining Order and Temporary Injunction, as set forth in the Prayer.
Immediate injunctive relief by way of Temporary Restraining Order and Temporary Injunction
is, therefore, necessary to prevent continuing harm prior to final trial.

56.  In addition to restraining Defendants’ conduct to prevent future illegal acts and
continuing harm to consumers, Plaintiff requests immediate relief to preserve and protect the
illegally and fraudulently obtained monies that have been paid by consumers to Defendants. In
light of the seriousness of the potential illegal conduct described herein and the efforts to hide
assets as described, Defendants are likely to waste or secrete the funds prior to final trial to avoid
repaying the funds to the State and consumers.

57.  In addition to restraining Defendants’ conduct to prevent future illegal acts and
continuing harm to consumers, Plaintiff requests immediate relief to preserve and protect the
fraudulently and illegally obtained monies that have been paid to Defendants. Moreover,
Defendants and all Relief Defendants own or control numerous other businesses which have
various physical locations and bank accounts which Defendants can hide funds and other
valuable assets.

58. For these reasons, the assets of Defendants and all Relief Defendants are subject
to dissipation and secretion and, therefore, should be frozen pending final trial so consumer
restitution can be made and full and final relief can be awarded at final trial. TEX. Bus. & COM.
CopE §17.47(d). Plaintiff requests that the Court exercise its authority and grant the injunctive
relief necessary to prevent additional harm to the Defendants’ victims as well as further violation

of the DTPA. Tex. Bus. & CoM. CODE §17.47(c).
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59.  Pursuant to TeEX. Bus. & CoM. CobDE §17.47(a), Plaintiff requests that a
Temporary Restraining Order be issued without prior notice to Defendants to prevent wasting or
secretion of the funds fraudulently and illegally obtained by Defendants that rightfuily belong to
consumers,

XV. REQUEST TO CONDUCT EXPEDITED DISCOVERY
PRIOR TO TEMPORARY INJUNCTION HEARING

60.  Plaintiff requests leave of this Court to conduct telephonic, oral, written and other
depositions of witnesses and parties prior to any scheduled Temporary Injunction Hearing and
prior to Defendants’ answer date. There are a number of victims and other witnesses who may
need to be deposed prior to any scheduled injunction hearing. Any depositions, telephonic or
otherwise, would be conducted with reasonable, shortened notice to Defendants and their
attorneys. Also, Plaintiff requests that the filing requirements for business records and the

associated custodial affidavits be waived for purposes of all temporary injunction hearings.

XVI. TRIAL BY JURY

61.  Plaintiff herein requests a jury trial and tenders the jury fee to the Harris County

District Clerk’s office pursuant to TEX. R. CIV. P. 216 and the TEX. Gov’T CODE §51.604.
XVII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

62.  All conditions precedent to Plaintiff’s claim for relief have been performed or

have occurred.
XVIIL. PRAYER
63.  Defendants have engaged in the unlawful acts and practices described above and

will continue to violate the law as alleged in this Petition. Unless immediately restrained by this
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Honorable Court, Defendants will continue to violate the laws of the State of Texas and cause
immediate, irreparable injury, loss and damage to the State of Texas and to the general public.

64.  Therefore, Plaintiff requests a Temporary Restraining Order, Temporary
Injunction and Permanent Injunction as indicated below. TEX. Bus. & CoM. CODE §17.47(a). The
Court shall issue such injunctive relief without requiring a bond. TEX. Bus. & Com. CODE
§17.47(b). Pursuant to TEX. Bus. & CoM. CoDE §17.47(b), Plaintiff requests that a Temporary
Restraining Order be issued without prior notice to Defendants as allowed by statute to prevent
irreplaceable loss of funds fraudulently and illegally obtained by Defendants that rightfully
belong to consumers.

65.  Plaintiff further prays that Defendants be cited according to law to appear and
answer herein; that after due notice and hearing a TEMPORARY INJUNCTION be issued; and
upon final hearing a PERMANENT INJUNCTION be issued, restraining and enjoining
Defendants, Defendants’ officers, agents, servants, employees and attorneys and any other
person in active concert or participation with any or all Defendants from engaging in the
following acts or practices:

a. Operating any business that provides or advertises any educational services,
including diplomas or degrees and online educational programs without further order of this
Court;

b. Operating any business that violates the TEXAS EDUCATION CODE;

c. Undertaking any action which would violate TEX. Bus. & CoM. CoDE Chapter 24;

d. Transferring, concealing, destroying, or removing from the jurisdiction of this

Court any books, records, documents, invoices or other written materials relating to the business
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of Defendants currently or hereafter in any of the Defendants’ possession, custody or control
except in response to further orders or subpoenas in this cause;

e. Transferring, spending, hypothecating, concealing, encumbering or removing
from the jurisdiction of this Court any money, stocks, bonds, assets, notes, equipment, funds,
accounts receivable, policies of insurance, trust agreements, or other property, real, personal or
mixed, wherever situated, belonging to or owned by, in possession of, or claimed by any of the
Defendants or Relief Defendants, insofar as such property relates to, arises out of or is derived
from the business operations of Defendants;

f. Altering in any way any website or website archives in their possession, control,
or cause any alteration of any website or website archives out of their immediate control;

g. Representing, directly or by implication, that goods or services have sponsorship,
approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities which they do not have,
including specifically and without limitation, that:

i. Defendants’ products are comparable to an accredited high school diploma
or GED;
ii. Defendants are a home school or home school organization or the
equivalent of a home school;
iii. Defendants’ products are the equivalent of a high school education;
iv. Defendants hold any type of accreditation, approval, registration or

endorsement that they do not legitimately have;
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v. Defendants’ products or services are accredited or recognized, endorsed,
or approved by a legitimate accrediting or sponsoring organization or
governmental agency; or

vi. Graduates of Defendants’ program receive diplomas which are generally
accepted or recognized by colleges, universities, the military, police
academies, other academic institutions, or employers.

h. Defendants shall not cause confusion or misunderstanding as to the source,
approval, or certification of any good or service sold or offered for sale by Defendants.
Specifically and without limitation, Defendants shall not represent that the State of Texas will
provide students with a GED after students purchase goods or services from any of Defendants.

i. Defendants shall not represent that any good or service sold or offered for sale by
Defendants is of a particular standard, quality or grade of it is of another standard, quality or
grade.

j. Defendants shall not fail to disclose information concerning any good or service
sold or offered for sale by Defendants when Defendants know at the time of the transaction that
such failure to disclose is intended to induce consumers to enter into transactions consumers
would not enter into if such information were disclosed. Specifically and without limitation,
Defendants shall not fail to disclose to each prospective consumer that:

i. Marque Learning Center is not an accredited high school;

ii. Marque Learning Center diploma is a ceremonial document that has no

educational significance;
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iii.

iv.

Vi.

vii.

viii.

Marque Learning Center is a series of tests and provides no instruction and
no coursework;

Marque Learning Center tests are not the same difficulty level as the GED;
Marque Learning Center graduates do not reap the same benefits as those
who obtain a legitimate high school diploma or pass the GED;

Because Defendants’ Marque Learning Center diplomas are not
accredited, they are not generally accepted by colleges, universities, the
military, police academies, other academic institutions, and employers;
Students entering colleges and universities with nontraditional and/or high
school equivalency diplomas are required to undergo assessments to
determine the best classroom placement and ensure overall success in the
program. Defendants’ students that do not fare well on these assessments
may have to take foundational courses for which they must pay additional
fees, but receive no college credit before being allowed to go on to
college-level courses for which credit toward a degree will be received;
and

Colleges, universities, the military, police academies, other academic
institutions, and employers generally will not accept diplomas from

Marque Learning Center.

66.  Plaintiff further prays that this Court award judgment for the Plaintiff as follows:

a. Order Defendants to pay civil penalties to Plaintiff for each violation of the DTPA

up to a total of $20,000.00 per each violation;
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b. Order Defendants and Relief Defendants to restore all money or other property
obtained from consumers by means of unlawful acts or practices, or in the alternative award
judgment for damages to compensate for such losses;

¢. Order disgorgement of all sums, monies, and value taken from consumers by
means of deceptive trade practices, together with all proceeds, interest, income, profits, and
accessions thereto; making such disgorgement for the benefit of victimized consumers and
Plaintiff;

d. Place an equitable lien and constructive trust on all of Defendants’ and Relief
Defendants’ assets, personal property, and real property, and grant the State an interest in said
assets and property;

e. Order Defendants’ and Relief Defendants’ assets be repatriated into the
jurisdiction of the Court;

f. Make findings of fact and conclusions of law that (1) all purchases of goods and
services consumers from Defendants were the result of Defendants’ engaging in actual fraud and
making materially false representations with the intent that the materially false representations
would be acted upon by the party or consumer to whom the misrepresentations were made; and
(2) consumers’ reliance on these false representations has resulted in injuries to said consumers;

g. Order Defendants to pay all of Plaintiff’s expenses to which Plaintiff is entitled to
reimbursement, including attorney’s fees, pursuant to TEX. BuS. & CoM. CoDE Chapter 71;

h. Order Defendants to pay Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs of court pursuant to
TEX. Gov’T CoDE § 402.006(c) and order Defendants to pay pre-judgment interest on all awards

of restitution, damages or civil penalties, as provided by law; and
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i. Grant leave to Plaintiff to conduct telephonic, oral, and other depositions prior to
Defendants’ answer date and any Temporary Injunction hearing and grant leave to Plaintiff to
conduct post-judgment discovery.

67. The State further prays that this Court grant all other relief to which the Plaintiff
STATE OF TEXAS may show itself entitled.

Respectfully submitted,
THE STATE OF TEXAS:

GREG ABBOTT
Attorney General of Texas

DANIEL T. HODGE
First Assistant Attorney General

JOHN SCOTT
Deputy Attorney General for
Civil Litigation

TOMMY PRUD’HOMME
Chief, Consumer Protection Division

MWV

DANIEL T. ZWART

State Bar No. 24070906
Daniel.zwart@texasattorneygeneral.gov
ROSEMARIE DONNELLY
State Bar No. 05983020
Assistant Attorneys General
Consumer Protection Division
808 Travis St., Suite 1520
Houston, Texas 77002
Telephone 713-223-5886
Facsimile 713-223-5821
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ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF

VYERIFICATION

Plaintiff’s Application for Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order, Temporary Injunction
and Permanent Injunction is verified by the following affidavits and exhibits attached to this
Petition and described below, and by the evidence admitted at a temporary injunction hearing
and final trial to be scheduled by the Court.

A. Affidavit of Charlene Acosta and exhibits;

B. Affidavit of Amir Roohi and exhibits;

C. Business Records Affidvit of Better Business Bureau and exhibits;

D. Business Records Affidavit — Non-Existence of Texas Education Agency;

E. Affidavit of Dr. James Goeman, Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board.
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